

## DEMOGRAPHIC RESEARCH

## VOLUME 46, ARTICLE 20, PAGES 581–618 PUBLISHED 31 MARCH 2022

https://www.demographic-research.org/Volumes/Vol46/20/ DOI: 10.4054/DemRes.2022.46.20

Research Article

## Variation in the educational consequences of parental death and divorce: The role of family and country characteristics

## **Carlijn Bussemakers**

### Gerbert Kraaykamp

## Jochem Tolsma

© 2022 Bussemakers, Kraaykamp & Tolsma.

This open-access work is published under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 3.0 Germany (CC BY 3.0 DE), which permits use, reproduction, and distribution in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are given credit.

See https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/3.0/de/legalcode.

## Contents

1	Introduction	582
2	Theory and hypotheses	584
2.1	Educational consequences of parental death or divorce	585
2.2	The moderating role of parents' level of education	586
2.3	The moderating role of the educational system	587
2.4	The moderating role of the welfare state	589
2.5	The moderating role of the prevalence of divorce	590
3	Data and measurements	591
3.1	Data: Generations and Gender Survey	591
3.2	Individual-level measurements	591
3.3	Country- and cohort-level measurements	592
3.4	Descriptive information	593
3.5	Analytical strategy	594
4	Analyses and results	597
4.1	Direct effects of adversity and the moderating influence of parental education	598
4.2	The moderating influence of the educational system	599
4.3	The moderating influence of the welfare state	602
4.4	The moderating influence of the divorce rate	605
5	Conclusion and discussion	606
6	Acknowledgments	609
	References	610
	Appendix	616

# Variation in the educational consequences of parental death and divorce: The role of family and country characteristics

Carlijn Bussemakers<sup>1</sup> Gerbert Kraaykamp<sup>2</sup> Jochem Tolsma<sup>3,4</sup>

## Abstract

#### **BACKGROUND AND OBJECTIVE**

Ample research demonstrates that experiencing parental death or divorce harms children's educational attainment. Less is known about variation herein, both between parental death and divorce and across social contexts. We investigated how family and national contexts moderate the educational consequences of these adverse events. At the family level, we studied whether the educated parents. At the national level, we investigated the buffering role of welfare benefits as well as the amplifying impact of a selective educational system and the divorce rate. Moreover, we examined the interplay between family and country contexts.

#### METHODS AND RESULTS

Using multilevel regression models with data from 17 countries from the Generations and Gender Survey, we found that parental divorce had a larger impact than parental death. Furthermore, the impact of parental divorce was largest for children of highereducated parents. Less selective educational systems and provision of single-parent benefits reduced the educational consequences of parental death, specifically for children of lower-educated parents.

#### CONCLUSIONS

Our results indicate that although both parental death and divorce harm children's educational attainment, their impacts differ across family and country contexts. The consequences of divorce strongly depend on the resources available in a family, while the effects of parental death are mitigated by educational and welfare policies.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Department of Sociology, Radboud University Nijmegen, the Netherlands. Email: c.bussemakers@ru.nl.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Department of Sociology, Radboud University Nijmegen, the Netherlands.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Department of Sociology, Radboud University Nijmegen, the Netherlands.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Department of Sociology, University of Groningen, the Netherlands

#### CONTRIBUTION

Our study underscores the relevance of differentiating between specific adverse events and considering the social context to understand the consequences of adversity for children's educational attainment.

## 1. Introduction

Many children grow up in an incomplete family due to the death of a parent or parental divorce or separation.<sup>5</sup> Children who experience such an adverse event receive less parental support, which may lead to developmental problems and poorer well-being (Cavanagh and Huston 2006). One potential consequence of parental death or divorce is lower educational outcomes (Amato and Anthony 2014). Whether this manifests, however, may depend on a child's social environment. Nonetheless, prior research on the effect of context on the educational consequences of parental death or divorce is fragmented, and the results are mixed (Bernardi and Boertien 2017). The present study brings together previous findings and theory from this field to draw a more comprehensive picture of the effect of social context to determine the educational consequences of parental death or divorce in 17 European countries, we set out to answer the following questions: To what extent do parental death and divorce limit children's educational attainment, and how do characteristics of the family and country context moderate this impact?

Family environment largely shapes the educational opportunities available to children. It is therefore important to consider factors in children's family life that may moderate the impact of adverse events. In this regard, parents' level of education appears key, as a higher education provides parents with financial and nonfinancial resources to advance their children's educational careers (Breen and Jonsson 2005). Nonetheless, previous work on the influence of parental education on the impact of parental death or divorce points in two opposite directions (Bernardi and Boertien 2017). Some studies find that parental education serves as a buffer against the negative impact of growing up in a single-parent household (Augustine 2014; Grätz 2015; Havermans, Swicegood, and Matthijs 2020). Other studies point to larger consequences of parental death or divorce among children of higher-educated parents, as these children experience a larger reduction in resource availability after such an adverse family event (Bernardi and Radl 2014; Martin 2012; Prix and Erola 2017). In an overview study, Bernardi and Boertien

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In the remainder of this article, we use the term 'parental divorce' to refer to formal divorce of married parents as well as informal separation.

(2017) suggested that these contradictive findings might be due to the studies being conducted in different countries. In the present study of the educational consequences of parental death and divorce, we therefore paid specific attention to cross-country variation in the moderating effect of parental education.

The country-comparative nature of our study, moreover, provides an opportunity to shed light on the under-studied role of national characteristics in amplifying or reducing the educational consequences of parental death and divorce (Kreidl, Štípková, and Hubatková 2017; Radl, Salazar, and Cebolla-Boado 2017). Specifically, we focused on three country-level factors identified in previous research as possible moderators: welfare state support for vulnerable families, selectivity of the educational system, and the national divorce rate. With respect to these earlier studies, our research makes three advancements.

The first advancement lies in our use of final educational attainment as the outcome under study. Two prior studies found that financial support policies for single-parent families improved the school performance of secondary school students growing up in a single-parent family (Hampden-Thompson 2013; Pong, Dronkers, and Hampden-Thompson 2003). Since higher education requires more financial resources than performing well in secondary school, the question is whether such benefits are sufficient to reduce inequalities in final educational attainment. Two other studies, using GGS data, examined the selectivity of countries' educational systems and the national divorce rate, finding that these characteristics did play a role in the likelihood of children attaining a tertiary degree (Bernardi and Radl 2014; Kreidl, Štípková, and Hubatková 2017). However, the effects found in these studies were small, perhaps due to the specificity of the outcome variable of interest (tertiary degree attainment). Indeed, the group of students able to enrol in tertiary education is already relatively selective, meaning that there may be little variation in the effects of adverse family events on educational attainment at this level. By focusing on children's final educational attainment across all educational levels, our study contributes to a better understanding of how country characteristics affect the educational consequences of parental death and divorce.

The second advancement lies in our investigation of the moderating role of both family and country, providing insight into for whom and when contexts matter. If the moderating role of the family context is found to differ between countries, this implies an interplay between family-level and country-level characteristics (Bernardi and Boertien 2017). Earlier research on the moderating role of country-level characteristics provides potential directions for such interplay. According to Hampden-Thompson (2013), family support policies may reduce the disadvantage of growing up in a single-parent household, mainly because they protect low-income single-mother households from poverty. Such benefits, therefore, may be less influential for children of highly educated parents, as they are less likely to fall into poverty after an adverse family event.

Similarly, Bernardi and Radl (2014) exploratively found that the moderating role of educational system selectivity differed for children of lower- and higher-educated parents. To provide clarity on differences in the effects of these factors, we developed and tested hypotheses on the moderating role of three country-level factors: educational selectivity, benefits for single parents, and the divorce rate. We also investigated how the effects differed between children from low- and high-income families.

Finally, the study contributes to research on adverse family events in general by considering the difference between parental death and divorce. Most research on (variation in) the educational consequences of adverse family events has focused on children who experienced divorce or grew up in a single-parent household (Bernardi and Boertien 2017). Few studies have distinguished between and compared children who experienced parental death and divorce (Hampden-Thompson 2013; Sapharas et al. 2016; Steele, Sigle-Rushton, and Kravdal 2009). Nevertheless, these events may have different consequences for children's educational careers, and these consequences may also be differently affected by the context in which children grow up (McLanahan, Tach, and Schneider 2013). Our study therefore examines the impact of parental death and divorce on children's educational attainment, as well as how differences in family and country contexts affect these educational outcomes.

With these advancements, our study contributes to a better understanding of variation in the impact of parental death and divorce across contexts, in addition to providing policymakers information with which to better support vulnerable children in their educational careers.

### 2. Theory and hypotheses

Educational attainment is affected by the context in which children grow up, in various ways. Classical work in sociology has convincingly argued how children benefit from parental financial, cultural, and social resources (Bourdieu 1986), whereas studies in developmental psychology point to the detrimental consequences of adverse events for children's education (Felitti et al. 1998). By combining insights from both theoretical traditions, we deduced hypotheses on how parental death or divorce might hinder children's educational attainment and what aspects of children's immediate environment might amplify or diminish possible negative consequences.

#### 2.1 Educational consequences of parental death or divorce

Theoretical considerations suggest that the changed family environment after an adverse event such as a parental death or divorce may harm children's educational performance in at least two ways. Most importantly, based on the extended family stress model, an adverse event is likely to cause emotional stress among family members (Conger et al. 2010). For example, the emotional and relational pain caused by divorce can lead to a parenting style that is harsher, less consistent, and less involved, which may negatively affect children's educational performance (Martin 2012). Furthermore, resource dilution theory (Blake 1981; Steelman and Powell 1989) implies that children who experience a parental death or divorce have less access to parental resources and support because the number of parents in the household is reduced from two to one, thus also diminishing the time, energy, and financial resources available for parenting. Due to their reduced resources, single parents have less opportunity to stimulate their children's cognitive, social-emotional, and motivational development (Havermans, Botterman, and Matthijs 2014; McLanahan, Tach, and Schneider 2013; Powell et al. 2016).

Parental death and divorce may not be equally harmful to all children's educational attainment. Although both experiences lead to family stress, due to either the loss of a parent or conflict between parents, the reduction of resources may be less profound for children who face parental death (Biblarz and Gottainer 2000). This is because in families where a parent has died, children often receive support from extended family members and friends of the deceased parent, who take over some parenting duties and support children's educational attainment (Albertini and Dronkers 2009; Sapharas et al. 2016; Steele, Sigle-Rushton, and Kravdal 2009). Children of divorced parents, however, tend to have much less contact with their nonresident parent, as well as that parent's family and friends over time, providing less opportunity to compensate for the loss in parental resources and support (Steele, Sigle-Rushton, and Kravdal 2009; Westphal, Poortman, and Van der Lippe 2015). Our first baseline hypothesis therefore reads: *Children who* experienced (a) parental death or (b) parental divorce attain lower educational levels than children who did not experience these events, and (c) the effect is larger for children who experienced a parental divorce than for children who experienced the death of a parent.

Both the family stress model and resource dilution theory regard parental death and divorce as long-term, powerful, and influential processes, encompassing more than the events themselves. That is, children with divorced parents are likely to have experienced predivorce marital conflict, and children who experienced parental death may have lived in a household with a sick parent in need of care. These pre-event circumstances contribute to the expected negative educational consequences. In our study, we therefore considered the overall impact of growing up in a family in which a parental death or divorce occurred, not just the causal effects of the events themselves.

#### 2.2 The moderating role of parents' level of education

Cultural capital and rational action theories on parental educational support suggest that an advantageous family environment provides children with considerable opportunity to attain a high educational level (Bourdieu 1986; Breen and Jonsson 2005). Prior research convincingly shows that children of higher-educated parents benefit from their parents' financial and nonfinancial resources in their own educational careers (Erola, Jalonen, and Lehti 2016; De Graaf, De Graaf, and Kraaykamp 2000). Parental financial resources allow parents to invest in their children's education, including financing the direct and indirect costs of attaining higher education (Breen and Jonsson 2005). Furthermore, higher-educated parents tend to actively promote their children's development and educational performance through activities such as reading, instruction within the home, and involvement in children's schooling (Carolan and Wasserman 2015; Kloosterman et al. 2011; Lareau 2015).

When faced with adversity like death or divorce, higher-educated parents may use their resources to enhance their children's resilience and counter possible negative consequences (Eriksson et al. 2010). For instance, higher-educated parents may pay for extra tutoring or obtain psychological support for their children (Eriksson et al. 2010; Augustine 2014; Grätz 2015; Havermans et al. 2020). Similarly, higher-educated parents' nonfinancial resources may enable them to better cope with stress and uncertainty after a divorce or loss of a partner and to maintain a positive parenting style (Augustine 2014; Beck et al. 2010). Children of higher-educated parents may thus experience less stress and negative educational consequences associated with an adverse family event (Grätz 2015).

The alternative theoretical notion of reduced advantage presumes that a parental death or divorce diminishes opportunities for children to benefit from their parents' resources (Bernardi and Boertien 2017; Bernardi and Radl 2014; Bussemakers and Kraaykamp 2020). First, as implied by resource dilution theory, parental death or divorce may reduce the financial resources available within a family (Beck et al. 2010; Bernardi and Boertien 2017). Second, as indicated by family stress theories, widowed and divorced parents may be less able to maintain a positive and stimulating parenting style due to the stress and worry associated with being a single parent (Bernardi and Boertien 2017; Martin 2012). In line with these theoretical notions, the experience of parental death or divorce in terms of financial and nonfinancial resources, while lower-educated parents have fewer parental resources to start with (a so-called floor effect) (Bernardi and Radl 2014). Due to their reduced advantage, children of higher-educated parents may experience a stronger impact of an adverse family event on their educational attainment (Bernardi and Radl 2014; Bussemakers and Kraaykamp 2020).

We expect that the mechanism of reduced advantage will be most important (Bussemakers and Kraaykamp 2020). An event like parental death or divorce leads to the absence of a parent, as well as the absence of most of their resources and support, for which the remaining parent cannot fully compensate. We expect the mechanism of reduced advantage to be more prominent among children who experience a parental divorce compared to those who experience parental death because as outlined earlier, children of divorce are likely to experience a greater loss of resources. This leads to our second hypothesis: *Children of higher-educated parents who experienced (a) parental death or (b) parental divorce experience greater educational consequences of these events than children of lower-educated parents, and (c) the difference is most pronounced for parental divorce.* 

#### 2.3 The moderating role of the educational system

Bronfenbrenner (1979) and Coleman (1988) found that social environment affects people's development and interactions. With regard to educational inequality, studies show that differences in countries' educational systems, welfare policies, and normative climate shape the opportunities available to children (van Doorn, Pop, and Wolbers 2011; Tieben, Hofäcker, and Biedinger 2013; Van de Werfhorst and Mijs 2010). We were interested in whether these factors also affect the magnitude of the impact of parental death or divorce on children's educational attainment.

First we considered the educational system as a relevant institutional factor. Educational systems vary considerably between countries, providing different opportunities for and constraints on children's educational careers (Chykina 2019; Pfeffer 2008). An important stratifying feature of a country's educational system is its selectivity - that is, the extent to which children are placed in different educational 'tracks' early on in their educational careers. More selective educational systems allocate children earlier to various vocational and academic tracks, with only the 'higher' tracks granting access to tertiary education. Previous research has shown that greater selectivity increases educational inequality with respect to family background (Brunello and Checchi 2007; Burger 2016; Van de Werfhorst and Mijs 2010). There are two main reasons for this. First, parents' financial and nonfinancial resources contribute to children's school performance, meaning that children of higher-educated parents are more likely to meet the criteria for placement in the higher tracks, which are those that grant access to tertiary education (Triventi et al. 2020; Van de Werfhorst and Mijs 2010). Second, in selective educational systems, parents and teachers play an important role in children's track placement. This benefits children of higher-educated parents because both parents and teachers tend to have higher expectations and aspirations for these children, and they therefore put more effort into getting the children into higher, more academically oriented tracks, as well as keeping them there (Barg 2013; Pfeffer 2015; Triventi et al. 2020). Children of lower-educated parents are more likely to be placed in 'lower,' vocational tracks due to their oftentimes poorer school performance record, as well as due to less effort by parents and teachers to place them, or keep them, in higher tracks. In less selective educational systems, children of lower- and higher-educated parents receive the same type of education for a longer period of time (because tracking takes place when children are older), reducing the impact of parental resources and support on children's opportunities for higher education.

Because a reduction in parental resources and support is an important reason for the negative educational consequences of parental death or divorce, greater selectivity of the educational system could compound the consequences of these adverse events (Bernardi and Radl 2014). We already noted that widowed and divorced parents may have less time and energy to stimulate their children's school performance and guide their educational careers. As a result, children who experience parental death or divorce may be less likely to be placed in the higher tracks of more selective educational systems, which can further hinder their educational careers (amplifying effect).

This moderating impact of a country's educational system may differ across families. The expected amplifying impact of a more selective system may be especially large among children of higher-educated parents, as they experience the largest reduction in parental resources after parental death or divorce. Children of lower-educated parents are already generally disadvantaged in more selective educational systems, but because they lose fewer resources after parental death or divorce, such educational systems might not *further* increase the impact of these adverse events on their educational careers. Moreover, following a similar reasoning to that presented earlier, selectivity likely amplifies the impact of parental divorce more than parental death because the reduction of parental resources is expected to be more profound for children who experience parental divorce. Hence our third hypothesis: In more selective educational systems, children who experienced (a) parental death or (b) parental divorce experience larger educational consequences of these events than children in less selective educational systems; (c) this amplifying effect of educational selectivity is larger for children of higher-educated parents, and (d) these effects are stronger for children who experienced parental divorce compared to children who experienced parental death.

#### 2.4 The moderating role of the welfare state

Countries differ not only in the way they arrange their educational systems but also in the formal support they provide to single-parent families and the children within them. An important way to reduce poverty and inequality is to provide monetary transfers to vulnerable groups via welfare state benefits (Brady 2005; Hampden-Thompson 2013). According to resource dilution theory, negative educational consequences of adverse events are due in part to the reduced availability of financial resources in single-parent families, which may be buffered by welfare state benefits. Indeed, numerous countries provide additional child benefits to families headed by a single parent, thus strengthening the financial position of families in which a parental death or divorce has occurred (Hampden-Thompson 2013; Pong, Dronkers, and Hampden-Thompson 2003). By reducing financial hardship and related stress in these families, welfare benefits could provide children with better opportunities to advance their educational careers (buffering effect).

Again, this impact may not be uniform across families. Welfare assistance may be particularly helpful for children of lower-educated single parents because benefits protect them against poverty (Brady 2005). Furthermore, benefits might bring their financial position more on par with that of families with non-widowed, nondivorced lower-educated parents and might provide parents sufficient financial means to invest in their children's educational careers (Hampden-Thompson 2013). For children of higher-educated parents, however, the compensation provided by welfare state benefits is likely to be less impactful. This is because these children started out with more parental resources, and after parental death or divorce, state benefits are insufficient to fully compensate for these resources. As a result, these children remain at a considerable disadvantage compared to their counterparts in families with nondivorced, non-widowed higher-educated parents.

Furthermore, single-parent benefits may have a relatively larger impact on children who experience a parental divorce compared to those who are faced with parental death, as the former tend to receive less support from within and outside the family. For children who experience a parental death, it may be less detrimental to grow up in a country without additional benefits for single-parent families, as they are likely to receive support from sources such as the extended family and friends of the deceased parent. Our fourth hypothesis therefore reads, *In countries that offer additional child benefits for singleparent families, children who experienced (a) parental death or (b) parental divorce experience smaller educational consequences of the adverse event than in countries without such additional benefits; (c) the buffering effects of single-parent benefits are larger for children of lower-educated parents, and (d) these effects are stronger for children who experienced parental divorce compared to children who experienced parental death.* 

#### 2.5 The moderating role of the prevalence of divorce

Lastly we consider the influence of divorce prevalence on the impact of divorce on educational attainment. On this, two perspectives exist (Kreidl, Štípková, and Hubatková 2017; Pong, Dronkers, and Hampden-Thompson 2003). The 'easy separation' perspective argues that when divorce is uncommon and less accepted, divorced parents and their children experience social stigma. This may induce feelings of isolation and stress, which is detrimental to children's educational performance (Bradley and Corwyn 2002). Greater acceptance of divorce, translated as a higher national divorce rate, may lead to less social stigma and thus less negative consequences (Bernardi and Radl 2014).

However, as discussed earlier, parental divorce mostly affects children's outcomes via the altered family environment (Martin 2012). In that light, the 'low-conflict dissolution' perspective seems more relevant. It argues that where divorce is uncommon, it mostly occurs in families with relatively high-intensity marital problems, such as violence. For children who grow up in such circumstances, the negative consequences of divorce may be relatively small because their home situations may improve after divorce. Yet as divorce becomes more widespread in a country, it may spill over to families with relatively few marital problems. In these families, divorce's impact is relatively large, as it substantially worsens a child's home environment (Kreidl, Štípková, and Hubatková 2017; Pong, Dronkers, and Hampden-Thompson 2003).

Altogether, due to a worsened home environment and reduced resources for more families, the consequences of divorce might be larger in countries where divorce is more prevalent (amplifying effect). Prior research has found that higher-educated parents are particularly likely to have low-conflict divorces, as they are less likely to have marital conflicts and they face fewer obstacles to divorce (Cooper and Pugh 2020). Nonetheless, low-conflict divorces are harmful to children of higher-educated parents because they cause the loss of considerable parental resources. This suggests an association between a higher national divorce rate and larger consequences of divorce among children of higher-educated parents. Therefore our fifth and final hypothesis is: (a) *In countries with a higher divorce rate, children who experience parental divorce experience larger educational consequences of divorce than in countries with a lower divorce rate, and (b) this amplifying effect of the divorce rate is larger for children of higher-educated parents.* 

#### 3. Data and measurements

#### 3.1 Data: Generations and Gender Survey

We tested our hypotheses with data from the Generations and Gender Survey (GGS 2016). The GGS provides a collection of national surveys conducted between 2002 and 2013 on topics related to family dynamics and relationships (United Nations Economic Commission for Europe 2005). We used data from 17 countries: Austria, Belgium, Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Estonia, France, Georgia, Germany,<sup>6</sup> Hungary, Italy, Lithuania, the Netherlands, Norway, Poland, Romania, Russia, and Sweden.

We focused on respondents from four ten-year birth cohorts: those born in the years 1945–1954, 1955–1964, 1965–1974, and 1975–1984 (with 62 cohorts across countries).<sup>7</sup> We omitted respondents younger than age 25 at the time of survey, as some would not have completed their educational careers at that age. Furthermore, we excluded respondents born in a country other than where they lived at the time of survey because we were interested in the impact of the country context in which the respondents grew up.<sup>8</sup> Additionally, we excluded respondents whose parents had never lived together or who grew up without their biological parents, to clearly distinguish between respondents who did and did not experience parental death or divorce.

#### 3.2 Individual-level measurements

We measured respondents' educational attainment as the number of years required to complete their highest level of education. To obtain this measure, we aggregated the average number of years associated with each educational level in the different countries (based on ISCED levels 0 to 6, with a maximum of 20 years).<sup>9</sup> When this aggregation was based on less than 20% of respondents with a certain level of education, we used government information obtained from Scholaro (2019) on the (current) nominal number of years required for that level. Respondents with no formal education were assigned the number of years for the lowest educational level minus one. Table A-1 provides an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Respondents were from the former FRG, as contextual information was not available for the former GDR.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Not all countries had information for four birth cohorts. In Austria, the oldest cohort was not covered by the national survey. Moreover, the youngest cohort in Lithuania, the oldest cohort in Italy, and the youngest and oldest cohorts in Russia and Georgia could not be included due to missing information on national context in the relevant period.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> This information was not available for all respondents, most notably for respondents in Hungary. We decided to include these respondents in our analyses because this provided us with an additional country. Our results proved not to be sensitive to the inclusion of this group.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> The France survey used slightly different categories to measure respondents' educational attainment, but as these levels were also transformed to years of education, this did not bias our results.

overview of the number of years corresponding to each educational level for each country.

For parental death, participants were asked whether their biological parents were still alive at time of the survey, and if not when they had died. Similarly, participants were asked whether their biological parents had broken up (including both divorce and separation), and if so when this happened. Using these questions, we created two categorical measures indicating whether respondents experienced these events before or during the year they turned 16. Respondents who did not experience these events during youth formed the reference category. We considered distinguishing between respondents who experienced these events before and after age 10, but additional analyses indicated that the consequences of the events and the influence of context were highly similar across age groups.

Parental educational attainment refers to the educational level of respondents' highest-educated parent, expressed in three categories: (pre-)primary education or lower (reference category), secondary education, and tertiary education. If respondents provided information on one parent only, that information was used. Due to data limitations, it was not possible to include the educational level of both parents separately.

Control variables were included for respondents' gender and age. We used multiple imputation to handle missing information on the individual-level variables in our model (1.18% missing on parental death, 2.23% missing on parental divorce, and 4.51% missing on parental education). Data were imputed using chained imputation in Stata, with 25 rounds, employing all individual and contextual variables in the model. Additionally, interaction terms with these variables were created using passive imputation. Respondents with missing information on the dependent variable (educational attainment) were removed from the analyses after the imputation procedure.

#### 3.3 Country- and cohort-level measurements

We included four cohort-specific country-level variables in our study. Ideally, we would have preferred information referring to the situation in the country during each respondent's formative years. The multilevel-structure of our data, however, required respondents to be nested in birth cohorts covering multiple years. Therefore we selected five-year periods that best represent the situation in which respondents from each birth cohort grew up. (See Table A-2 for an overview of the time period considered for each birth cohort.)

Selectivity of a country's educational system was measured by the age at which children were first selected into different educational tracks, retrieved from Braga, Checchi, and Meschi (2013).<sup>10</sup> We used the age of first educational selection that was most common during the five-year period referring to each cohort's formative years in each country. For two countries (Bulgaria and Russia), information was unavailable for the first two cohorts; we therefore used the tracking age for the third cohort (Brunello and Checchi 2007). For three countries (Georgia, Lithuania, and Romania), no cohort-specific information on tracking age was available, so we took the age of children's selection into different educational tracks from Scholaro (2019).

A dichotomous variable was created to indicate whether countries provided additional welfare benefits to families headed by a single parent (aside from the regular child benefits). This information was retrieved from *Social Security Around the World* reports, in which social security policies of countries worldwide are provided from the 1950s onward (Social Security Administration n.d.). Crude divorce rates were retrieved from *Our World in Data* (Ortiz-Ospina and Roser 2020), which provides historical information about divorce rates in the countries in our analyses from sources such as the OECD and Eurostat. Lastly we controlled for educational expansion by including the share of people in each birth cohort from each country receiving a tertiary education, retrieved from the Wittgenstein Centre (2018).

#### 3.4 Descriptive information

Unfortunately, not all countries had information on both parental death and divorce. Italy lacked information on parental death, while the surveys in Germany, Czech Republic, and Poland did not ask all respondents whether their parents were divorced. We therefore conducted separate analyses for parental death and divorce using only those countries for which we had information on each respective experience.<sup>11</sup>

Tables 1a and 1b provide descriptive statistics for the variables in the two samples analysed. For parental death, we used data on 93,322 respondents from 58 country–cohort combinations in 16 countries. For parental divorce, we used data on 77,512 respondents from 49 country–cohort combinations in 14 countries.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> We would have preferred a measure for the selectivity of the educational system that also includes information on the number of tracks and the selectivity of these tracks. However, such information was not available for the period in which most of our respondents grew up. Nonetheless, since these measures are highly correlated, age of selection appeared to be an appropriate indicator for the general selectivity of the educational system (Brunello and Checchi 2007).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> We also conducted analyses with both adverse experiences in the same models, using information from the 13 countries in which respondents were asked about both parental death and divorce. The results from these analyses did not differ substantially from our main analyses. Because the lower number of countries in these analyses reduced the reliability of the results, we decided to present only the estimates from our main analyses.

Within the respective samples, fewer people experienced parental death (6.71%) than parental divorce (8.94%). In both samples, respondents attained roughly 13 years of education on average. About 25% of the respondents had parents with a primary education or less, while about 60% had parents with secondary education and 13% had parents who had completed tertiary education. Women were overrepresented in both samples.

With respect to the contexts in which respondents grew up, we observed that educational selection occurred between ages 10 and 16. In 20 country–cohort combinations, the state provided additional child benefits for single-parent families. Divorce rates ranged from 0.24 to 4.08 divorces per 1,000 respondents in the sample with information on parental divorce (divorce rate was not included in our analyses of parental death). Table A-3 provides a categorization of the country cohorts according to these characteristics.

#### 3.5 Analytical strategy

Before turning to the descriptive statistics, we discuss our analytical strategy. To investigate variation in the consequences of parental death or divorce across contexts, we started by analysing the impact of parental death and divorce in each country–cohort combination separately, using regression models with all individual-level predictors.

The differences were further analysed using three-level regression models, in which respondents were nested in country cohorts nested in countries. Null models indicated that in the countries with information on parental death, 8.2% of the variation in respondents' educational attainment could be attributed to the country level and 3.7% could be attributed to the country–cohort combination. For the country level and 3.6% to the country-cohort combination. This underscores the relevance of including the country level in our models. We estimated separate models for the main effects of parental death and divorce, their interaction with parental resources, their interaction with each of the country cohort–level moderators.

Confidence intervals were used to indicate the reliability of our estimates. For the multilevel models estimated using all country–cohort combinations, we used 95% intervals, as these are commonly used to signify the size and reliability of effect estimates. For the figures in which we present and compare effects per country cohort and family groups, we used confidence intervals of 90%, as these smaller interval bands provide a better indication of whether estimates differ from each other in size (Goldstein and Healy 1995).

	Ν	%	Mean	S.D.	Min.	Max.
Individual-level variables						
Dependent variable						
Educational attainment	93,322		13.36	2.93	3.00	19.84
Independent variables						
Parental death during youth	93,322					
No (ref.)	87,060	93.29				
Yes	6,262	6.71				
Parental educational attainment	93,322					
Primary (ref.)	24,292	26.03				
Secondary	56,842	60.91				
Tertiary	12,197	13.07				
Control variables						
Age	93,322		43.47	10.49	25.00	68.00
Sex	93,322					
Male (ref.)	41,892	44.89				
Female	51,430	55.11				
Country cohort-level variables						
Independent variables						
Age at first selection	58		13.52	2.01	10.00	16.00
Single-parent benefits	58					
No (ref.)	38	65.52				
Yes	20	34.00				
Control variables						
Share tertiary educated	58		12.10	0.90	10.38	13.99

#### Table 1a: Descriptive statistics – parental death sample

Sources: Braga, Checchi, and Meschi (2013), Brunello and Checchi (2007), GGS (2016), Ortiz-Ospina and Roser (2020), Scholaro (2019), Social Security Administration (1958–1994), Wittgenstein Centre (2018).

	Ν	%	Mean	S.D.	Min.	Max.
Individual-level variables						
Dependent variable						
Educational attainment	77,512		13.26	3.02	3.00	19.84
Independent variables						
Parental divorce during youth	77,512					
No (ref.)	70,582	91.06				
Yes	6,930	8.94				
Parental educational attainment	77,512					
Primary (ref.)	21,603	27.87				
Secondary	45,538	58.75				
Tertiary	10,371	13.38				
Control variables						
Age	77,512		42.37	9.98	25.00	68.00
Sex	77,512					
Male (ref.)	34,997	45.15				
Female	42,515	54.85				
Country cohort–level variables						
Independent variables						
Age at first selection	49		13.84	1.82	10.00	16.00
Single-parent benefits	49					
No (ref.)	29	59.18				
Yes	20	40.82				
Divorce rate	49		1.74	0.95	0.24	4.08
Control variables						
Share tertiary educated	49		11.93	0.90	10.38	13.99

#### Table 1b: Descriptive statistics – parental divorce sample

Sources: Braga, Checchi, and Meschi (2013), Brunello and Checchi (2007), GGS (2016), Ortiz-Ospina and Roser (2020), Scholaro (2019), Social Security Administration (1958–1994), Wittgenstein Centre (2018)

## 4. Analyses and results

Figure 1 presents the effects of parental death and divorce per country cohort based on regression analyses with all individual predictors in each country–cohort combination. On average, both adverse events seem to have reduced respondents' educational attainment by about half a year. The 90% confidence intervals of parental death excluded the value 0 in 22 (out of 58) country cohorts; for divorce this held for 27 (out of 49) country–cohort combinations. Thus there was considerable variation in the educational consequences of parental death and divorce, both between countries and between cohorts in the same country. In Hungary and Poland, the consequences of the adverse events seem to have been very small, while the consequences were considerably larger in, for example, Belgium and France. In Germany and France, the consequences of these events varied across cohorts, being either large or relatively small, depending on the period in which the respondents were born. These differences are further explored below.

## Figure 1: Educational consequences of parental death and divorce across countries and cohorts (90% CI )



#### 4.1 Direct effects of adversity and the moderating influence of parental education

Table 2 presents the main effects of parental death and divorce, as well as their interaction with parental education. Models 1a and 1b show that both parental death (B = -0.352, SE = 0.035) and parental divorce (B = -0.471, SE = 0.034) negatively affected respondents' educational attainment. The effect of divorce was substantially larger than that of parental death, and this difference was significant at the conventional levels.<sup>12</sup> All in all, the negative effects confirm our first hypothesis: Respondents who experienced a parental death or divorce attained less education than respondents who did not experience one of these events during their youth, and the difference was larger for respondents who experienced parental divorce.

Models 2a and 2b include estimates of the interaction effects between the adverse events and parental education. Here we see that parental education moderated the impact of parental divorce but not of parental death. The interaction terms of experiencing parental death with parental education were small and not statistically significant (at conventional levels). For parental divorce, the consequences were about twice as large for respondents whose parents had tertiary education (interaction term: B = -0.360, SE = 0.117) compared to respondents whose parents had attained primary education (main effect: B = -0.357, SE = 0.075). There was no substantial difference in the impact of parental divorce between respondents whose parents had primary education and those whose parents had secondary education (interaction term: B = -0.095, SE = 0.088). We found no difference in the impact of parental death between respondents with highereducated parents and those with lower-educated parents. Hence we must reject hypothesis 2a. Our results are in line with hypothesis 2b: Respondents with higher-educated parents experienced greater educational consequences of divorce compared to respondents with lower-educated parents. These results also corroborate hypothesis 2c, stating that the differences according to parental education are larger for parental divorce than for parental death.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> The *t* value of the difference was calculated as follows:  $T = (-.352 - ..471) / \text{sqrt}(.035^2 + .034^2) = 2.44$ . This provides a conservative estimate, as we assume the covariances of the effects to be zero.

Model	1a		2a		1b		2b	
	B/	Min95/	B/	Min95/	B/	Min95/	B/	Min95/
	(SE)	Max95	(SE)	Max95	(SE)	Max95	(SE)	Max95
Intercept	11.969	11.496	11.971	11.497	12.045	11.505	12.034	11.494
	(0.241)	12.442	(0.241)	12.444	(0.276)	12.585	(0.275)	12.574
Parental death	-0.352	-0.421	-0.363	-0.478				
	(0.035)	-0.284	(0.059)	-0.248				
Parental divorce					-0.471	-0.539	-0.357	-0.504
					(0.034)	-0.404	(0.075)	-0.211
Female	0.124	0.091	0.124	0.091	0.184	0.147	0.184	0.147
	(0.017)	0.158	(0.017)	0.158	(0.019)	0.221	(0.019)	0.221
Age	-0.003	-0.008	-0.003	-0.008	-0.007	-0.013	-0.007	-0.013
	(0.003)	0.003	(0.003)	0.003	(0.003)	-0.001	(0.003)	-0.001
Family level								
Parental education								
Secondary	1.680	1.635	1.678	1.631	1.771	1.722	1.778	1.727
Secondary	(0.023)	1.725	(0.024)	1.725	(0.025)	1.820	(0.026)	1.828
Tertiary	3.574	3.511	3.577	3.513	3.589	3.522	3.622	3.552
Tertiary	(0.032)	3.637	(0.033)	3.641	(0.034)	3.657	(0.036)	3.693
Parental death*education		5.057	(0.000)	5.041	(0.034)	5.057	(0.000)	5.055
Secondary			0.033	-0.119				
eccondary			(0.077)	0.185				
Tertiary			-0.083	-0.342				
ronary			(0.132)	0.177				
Parental divorce*educati	on		(0.102)	0.177				
Secondary							-0.095	-0.268
							(0.088)	0.078
Tertiary							-0.360	-0.589
							(0.117)	-0.131
Country cohort level								
Selection age	0.097	0.025	0.097	0.025	0.141	0.063	0.141	0.063
	(0.037)	0.169	(0.037)	0.169	(0.040)	0.219	(0.040)	0.218
Single-parent benefits	0.063	-0.281	0.062	-0.281	0.057	-0.246	0.057	-0.245
engle parent benefite	(0.175)	0.406	(0.175)	0.406	(0.155)	0.360	(0.154)	0.359
Divorce rate	(00)	5	(00)	21.00	-0.269	-0.416	-0.268	-0.414
2.1.0.00 1010					(0.075)	-0.122	(0.075)	-0.121
Educational expansion	0.374	0.187	0.374	0.187	0.487	0.299	0.485	0.298
	(0.095)	0.561	(0.095)	0.561	(0.096)	0.675	(0.096)	0.673

## Table 2:Educational consequences of parental death and divorce and<br/>moderation by family context

#### 4.2 The moderating influence of the educational system

Table 3 presents the results of the cross-level interaction effects of the adverse events and educational system. First we considered the relevance of educational selectivity for the consequences of parental death. Model 1a includes the interaction effect between tracking age and the main effect of parental death. In line with our expectations, it shows that educational tracking at a later age, indicating a less selective system, reduced the consequences of parental death (interaction effect: B = 0.068, SE = 0.029). In model 2a, we added the three-way interaction with parental death, parental education, and educational selectivity. Surprisingly, this model indicates that the buffering role of a less selective system was confined to respondents with lower-educated parents; the main

interaction of parental death and tracking age, referring to respondents with lowereducated parents, was large and positive (B = 0.156, SE = 0.049), while the three-way interactions referring to respondents with parents with secondary and tertiary education were almost equal in magnitude and negative (interactions terms: B = -0.131, SE = 0.056and B = -0.132, SE = 0.076).

To further illustrate these differences, Figure 2 presents the consequences of parental death, estimated separately for country cohorts with early, middle, and late selection. The first panel shows the overall effect (across all levels of parental education). Here we see that the consequences of parental death were largest for children in the most selective educational systems (early tracking), driving the interaction effect found earlier. In such systems (middle or late tracking). The other panels show that this difference applied only to respondents with parents with primary education. For them, the consequences of parental death were largest (early tracking), while no such pattern was found for respondents with parents parental parental parental parental parental parental parents pare

Turning to the impact of parental divorce, model 2a shows that more selective educational systems did not increase the consequences of this adverse event. The interaction effect in this model was very small, negative, and not statistically significant at the conventional levels (B = -0.012, SE = 0.025). Adding the three-level interactions in model 2b did not produce a clear pattern either. We thus conclude that the consequences of parental death were larger in more selective educational systems (in line with hypothesis 3a), but no such effect was found for parental divorce (contrary to hypothesis 3b). Furthermore, the amplifying effect of the educational system was not larger for respondents with higher-educated parents, as stated in hypothesis 3c. Overall, these findings also contradict hypothesis 3d, proposing that these patterns would be more profound for parental divorce than for parental death.

Model	1a		2a		1b		2b	
	B/	Min95/	B/	Min95/	B/	Min95/	B/	Min95/
	(SE)	Max95	(SE)	Max95	(SE)	Max95	(SE)	Max95
Intercept	11.968	11.496	12.317	11.663	12.053	11.512	12.564	11.796
	(0.241)	12,440	(0.334)	12.972	(0.276)	12.593	(0.392)	13.332
Parental death	-0.385	-0.492	-0.444	-0.586	( /		()	
	(0.055)	-0.278	(0.072)	-0.303				
Parental divorce	()		(,		-0.475	-0.567	-0.572	-0.748
					(0.047)	-0.382	(0.090)	-0.396
Female	0.125	0.091	0.123	0.090	0.184 <sup>´</sup>	0.147	Ò.181 ´	0.145
	(0.017)	0.158	(0.017)	0.156	(0.019)	0.221	(0.019)	0.218
Age	-0.003	-0.008	-0.007	-0.013	-0.007	-0.013	-0.012	-0.018
5	(0.003)	0.003	(0.003)	-0.002	(0.003)	-0.001	(0.003)	-0.005
	()		()		()		()	
Family level								
Parental education								
Secondary	1.680	1.635	1.770	1.544	1.771	1.722	1.764	1.502
	(0.023)	1.725	(0.116)	1.997	(0.025)	1.820	(0.134)	2.026
Tertiary	3.574	3.512	3.822	3.452	3.588	3.521	3.798	3.352
	(0.032)	3.637	(0.189)	4.193	(0.034)	3.655	(0.228)	4.245
Parental death*education								
Secondary			0.110	-0.057				
			(0.085)	0.277				
Tertiary			-0.061	-0.327				
			(0.136)	0.206				
Parental divorce*education								
Tertiary							0.140	-0.057
2							(0.101)	0.338
Secondary							–0.031	-0.284
							(0.129)	0.222
							· · ·	
Country cohort level								
Selection age	0.093	0.022	0.240	0.100	0.148	0.069	0.270	0.100
	(0.036)	0.165	(0.071)	0.379	(0.040)	0.227	(0.087)	0.440
Single-parent benefits	0.053	-0.287	-0.453	-1.032	0.061	-0.246	-0.553	-1.182
	(0.174)	0.394	(0.295)	0.126	(0.156)	0.368	(0.321)	0.077
Divorce rate					-0.263	-0.412	-0.221	-0.520
					(0.076)	-0.115	(0.152)	0.078
Educational expansion	0.370	0.184	0.374	0.076	0.489	0.298	0.589	0.214
	(0.095)	0.556	(0.152)	0.673	(0.097)	0.679	(0.191)	0.964
Parental death*selection	0.068	0.011	0.156	0.060				
age	(0.029)	0.124	(0.049)	0.252				
Parental divorce*selection					-0.012	-0.062	0.076	-0.025
age					(0.025)	0.038	(0.051)	0.177
Family and country cohort le								
Parental education*selection								
Secondary	i age		-0.130	-0.255			-0.099	-0.257
Coolidary			(0.064)	-0.255			(0.081)	0.059
Tertiary			(0.064) -0.221	-0.005 -0.420			(0.081) -0.234	-0.496
renary								
Parantal doath*aducation*ac	loction and		(0.102)	-0.021			(0.134)	0.027
Parental death*education*se	section age		0 4 9 4	0.220				
Secondary			-0.131	-0.239				
Tortion			(0.056)	-0.022				
Tertiary			-0.132	-0.282				
Doroptal divorceteduced	coloction or	_	(0.076)	0.017				
Parental divorce*education*	selection ag	5					0.110	0.000
Secondary							-0.119	-0.228
Tertion							(0.056)	-0.009
Tertiary							-0.066	-0.206
							(0.072)	0.075
N	93,322		93,322		77,512		77,512	

# Table 3:Educational consequences of parental death and divorce and<br/>moderation by educational system





#### 4.3 The moderating influence of the welfare state

Table 4 provides estimates of the influence of single-parent benefits, which seem to have an impact similar to that of later educational tracking. Models 1a and 1b incorporate the buffering role of welfare state benefits for the consequences of parental death. The interaction effect between single-parent benefits and parental death (B = 1.33, SE = 0.116) in model 1 was positive but not statistically significant (at conventional levels). Model 2b includes the three-way interaction with parental death, parental education, and single-parent benefits. The main interaction effect of parental death and these benefits, referring to respondents with lower-educated parents, was positive (B = 0.382, SE = 0.152) and almost the same size as the main effect (B = -0.501, SE = 0.086), indicating that parental death did not impact the educational attainment of respondents with lower-educated parents in countries that offered these benefits. However, the negative three-way interactions with single-parent benefits and parental death among respondents with parents with secondary (B = 0.134, SE = 0.243) and tertiary education (B = 0.601, SE = 0.394) indicate that this buffering role did not apply to them.

Model	1a		2a		1b		2b	
	B/	Min95/	B/	Min95/	B/	Min95/	B/	Min95
	(SE)	Max95	(SE)	Max95	(SE)	Max95	(SE)	Max95
Intercept	11.970	11.499	12.350	11.694	12.055	11.514	12.576	11.80
	(0.241)	12.442	(0.335)	13.006	(0.276)	12.595	(0.394)	13.34
Parental death	-0.425	-0.562	-0.501	-0.669	(0.210)	12.000	(0.001)	10.0
	(0.070)	-0.287	(0.086)	-0.333				
Parental divorce	(0.070)	0.207	(0.000)	0.000	-0.512	-0.636	-0.605	-0.813
					(0.063)	-0.389	(0.106)	-0.39
Female	0.125	0.091	0.122	0.089	0.184	0.147	0.182	0.145
remaie	(0.017)	0.158	(0.017)	0.155	(0.019)	0.221	(0.019)	0.218
Age	-0.003	-0.008	-0.007	-0.013	-0.007	-0.013	-0.012	-0.01
Age	(0.003)	0.003	(0.003)	-0.002	(0.003)	-0.013	(0.003)	-0.00
	(0.003)	0.005	(0.003)	-0.002	(0.003)	-0.001	(0.003)	-0.00
Family level								
Parental education								
Secondary	1.680	1.635	1.786	1.496	1.771	1.722	1.807	1.459
	(0.023)	1.725	(0.148)	2.077	(0.025)	1.820	(0.177)	2.154
Tertiary	3.574	3.511	4.032	3.558	3.588	3.521	4.054	3.456
( or that y	(0.032)	3.637	(0.242)	4.506	(0.034)	3.655	(0.305)	4.652
Parental death*education	(0.002)	0.001	(0.272)		(0.004)	0.000	(0.000)	4.002
Secondary			0.185	-0.011				
Decondary			(0.100)	0.381				
Tantian			. ,					
Tertiary			-0.052	-0.400				
			(0.177)	0.296				
Parental divorce*education								
Tertiary							0.137	-0.10
							(0.122)	0.377
Secondary							-0.005	-0.34
							(0.175)	0.338
Country ophart loval								
Country cohort level	0.095	0.023	0.214	0.076	0.147	0.068	0.256	0.088
Selection age								
	(0.036)	0.166	(0.070)	0.352	(0.040)	0.226	(0.086)	0.425
Single-parent benefits	0.049	-0.292	-0.459	-1.044	0.056	-0.251	-0.541	-1.17
	(0.174)	0.390	(0.298)	0.126	(0.157)	0.363	(0.322)	0.090
Divorce rate					-0.264	-0.412	-0.225	-0.52
					(0.076)	-0.115	(0.152)	0.073
Educational expansion	0.370	0.184	0.405	0.107	0.490	0.300	0.604	0.230
	(0.095)	0.556	(0.152)	0.704	(0.097)	0.680	(0.191)	0.977
Parental death*benefits	0.133	-0.094	0.382	0.084				
	(0.116)	0.361	(0.152)	0.679				
Parental divorce*benefits					0.079	-0.108	0.222	-0.13
					(0.095)	0.265	(0.182)	0.578
Family and country cohort								
Parental education*benefits	5		0.424	0.011			0.400	0.07
Secondary			-0.134	-0.611			-0.138	-0.67
<b>-</b>			(0.243)	0.343			(0.275)	0.402
Tertiary			-0.601	-1.373			-0.592	-1.49
			(0.394)	0.172			(0.462)	0.314
Parental death*education*b	penefits							
Secondary			-0.433	-0.773				
			(0.173)	-0.093				
Tertiary			-0.274	-0.808				
			(0.273)	0.261				
Parental divorce*education	*benefits		. ,					
Secondary							-0.173	-0.55
							(0.196)	0.211
Tertiary							-0.191	-0.682
· · ·							(0.250)	0.300

# Table 4:Educational consequences of parental death and divorce and<br/>moderation by welfare state

Figure 3 illustrates this, showing the consequences of parental death in country cohorts with and without single-parent benefits. The overall effect of parental death did not differ between countries with and without benefits; however, distinguishing by parental level of education, we find that benefits mattered most for respondents whose parents had primary education. They experienced a substantial negative effect of parental death in country cohorts without benefits, but this effect disappeared in country cohorts with single-parent benefits. Provision of single-parent benefits did not change the effect of parental death among respondents whose parents had a secondary or tertiary education. This confirms hypotheses 3a and 3c regarding parental death: Single-parent benefits reduced the educational consequences of parental death but only among respondents with lower-educated parents.

Regarding parental divorce, the results in models 2a and 2b point to a similar pattern, but with much smaller and nonsignificant effects. We therefore cannot confirm hypotheses 3b and 3d; that is, we found no evidence that single-parent benefits in a country reduced the educational consequences of parental divorce and also no evidence of a larger moderation effect for parental death than for divorce.

## Figure 3: Educational consequences of parental death in country cohorts with and without single-parent benefits (90% CI)



#### 4.4 The moderating influence of the divorce rate

Finally, Table 5 presents the moderating role of the divorce rate for the educational consequences of parental divorce. Model 1 includes the interaction with the divorce rate for each country–cohort combination and parental divorce, which was very small and not statistically significant at conventional levels (B = -0.004, SE = 0.051). This indicates that for the overall impact of divorce, the prevalence of divorce in a country did not matter. In model 2, we estimated the three-way interactions with parental level of education, finding these to also be small and not statistically significant at conventional levels. Given these small and nonsignificant effects, we rejected our fifth hypothesis; that is, divorce did not appear to be more harmful in contexts where it was more common, neither for respondents with lower-educated parents nor for respondents with higher-educated parents.

Model		1	1	2
	B/	Min95/	B/	Min95/
	(SE)	Max95	(SE)	Max95
Intercept	12.053	11.512	12.583	11.816
	(0.276)	12.593	(0.391)	13.349
Parental divorce	-0.476	-0.572	-0.515	-0.683
	(0.049)	-0.381	(0.086)	-0.347
Female	0.184	0.147	0.181	0.144
	(0.019)	0.221	(0.019)	0.218
Age	-0.007	-0.013	-0.012	-0.018
	(0.003)	-0.001	(0.003)	-0.005
Family level				
Parental education				
Secondary	1.771	1.722	1.736	1.488
	(0.025)	1.820	(0.126)	1.983
Tertiary	3.588	3.521	3.788	3.376
	(0.034)	3.655	(0.210)	4.200
Parental divorce*education				
Tertiary			0.094	-0.095
			(0.096)	0.283
Secondary			-0.096	-0.354
			(0.131)	0.162
Country cohort level				
Selection age	0.147	0.069	0.251	0.085
	(0.040)	0.226	(0.084)	0.416
Single-parent benefits	0.061	-0.246	-0.517	-1.135
	(0.156)	0.368	(0.315)	0.101
Divorce rate	-0.263	-0.412	-0.185	-0.480
	(0.076)	-0.114	(0.150)	0.110
Educational expansion	0.489	0.299	0.574	0.206
	(0.097)	0.679	(0.188)	0.942
Parental divorce*divorce rate	-0.004	-0.105	0.188	-0.026
	(0.051)	0.097	(0.109)	0.403
Family and country cohort level				
Parental education*divorce rate				
Secondary			-0.004	-0.105
			(0.051)	0.097
Tertiary			-0.004	-0.105
- · · · <b>,</b>			(0.051)	0.097
Parental divorce*education*divorce rate			. /	
Secondary			-0.246	-0.476
-			(0.118)	-0.015
Tertiary			-0.147	-0.418
			(0.138)	0.124
Ν	77,512		77,512	

#### Table 5: Educational consequences of divorce and moderation by divorce rate

## 5. Conclusion and discussion

This study is the first to bring together the influence of family resources and country context on the educational consequences of both parental death and divorce. Our results indicate that both adverse events negatively impact children's educational careers, but we also found substantial differences between the two. Not only were the consequences of parental divorce for children's educational attainment larger than those of parental death,

but family and country contexts also played a role in shaping the consequences of these experiences in different ways.

The family context, specifically parental resources, seemed particularly relevant for the educational consequences of parental divorce. We found that parental divorce was more harmful for children of higher-educated parents, confirming the notion of reduced advantage from earlier studies (Bernardi and Radl 2014; Bussemakers and Kraaykamp 2020; Martin 2012). The educational consequences of parental death were found to be smaller than those of parental divorce, and overall were comparable for children of lowerand higher-educated parents. This confirms ideas from previous studies suggesting that after parental death, children may face a smaller loss in resources and obtain substantial support from family and friends, who (to some extent) take over the role of the deceased parent (Albertini and Dronkers 2009; Sapharas et al. 2016; Steele, Sigle-Rushton, and Kravdal 2009).

In contrast, characteristics of the national context did not affect the consequences of parental divorce but were found to be important for children who experienced parental death. Regarding welfare state benefits, our results confirm as well as expand on the earlier finding that single-parent benefits reduce the impact of growing up in a singleparent family on children's school performance (Hampden-Thompson 2013; Pong, Dronkers, and Hampden-Thompson 2003). Extending this finding, our results show that such benefits function as a buffer against the negative impact of an adverse event on children's final educational attainment, but only for children of lower-educated parents who experienced parental death. This is in line with the suggestion of Hampden-Thompson (2013) that single-parent benefits may be particularly effective in reducing poverty among vulnerable families by bringing their resources more on par with those of two-parent lower-educated families. For children of middle- and higher-educated parents, single-parent benefits are likely insufficient to reduce the impact of parental death. Similarly, the loss of parental resources after divorce may be too large to be compensated for by welfare benefits. Unfortunately, due to the country-comparative nature of our study, we could not study the mechanisms underlying the impact of parental death or divorce. Future research with more detailed family life data could investigate variation in the loss of parental resources after adverse family events and shed light on what types of family policies might mitigate such consequences.

Educational system selectivity was also relevant for children who experienced parental death. Our results suggest that in more selective educational systems, parental death had a stronger impact on the educational attainment of children of lower-educated parents. This pattern aligns with the explorative findings of Bernardi and Radl (2014) suggesting that educational selectivity increases the impact of divorce for children of lower-educated parents. Our results indicate that selectivity of the educational system does not affect the consequences of an adverse family event because it increases the

burden of lost parental resources, as this would have led to stronger effects among children of higher-educated parents. Instead, the explanation for our findings may be found in theories of cumulative disadvantage (DiPrete and Eirich 2006): In less selective systems, children of lower-educated parents experience some disadvantage regardless of whether they experience an adverse family event. In more selective educational systems, in contrast, the disadvantages of growing up with less parental resources and the experience of parental death or divorce may be mutually reinforcing. For parental divorce, such patterns may manifest at the top of the educational distribution, leading to less access to tertiary education, as suggested by Bernardi and Radl (2014), while for parental death, such disadvantages seem more consequential at lower education levels, as found in our study.

On a positive note, we found no evidence for the 'low-conflict dissolution' perspective, which argues that where divorce is more prevalent, it is more harmful to children's educational attainment. Our findings differ from earlier research indicating that a higher national divorce rate reduces opportunities for children of divorced parents to enter tertiary education because of an increase in low-conflict divorces (Bernardi and Radl 2014; Kreidl, Štípková, and Hubatková 2017). This may be because we studied the consequences of divorce for children's educational attainment in general instead of focusing on higher education only. A relatively select group attains tertiary education, even without experiencing parental death or divorce. Low-conflict divorces may be particularly detrimental to children's ability to make the specific transition to tertiary education. In our study, this negative effect might have been balanced out by the positive effect of reduced social stigma for educational attainment in the lower educational strata. Future research using detailed data on the educational careers of children with and without adverse experiences may shed light on how educational selection and norms regarding adverse events affect the educational consequences of adversity.

As noted earlier, a disadvantage of the country-comparative nature of our study was that we lacked detailed information on the circumstances in which children grew up and on their educational careers. Future research could use such longitudinal data to investigate the mechanisms suggested for the found differences between parental death and divorce across contexts. Moreover, future research might investigate how the consequences of other adverse experiences, such as parental conflict and violence or child abuse and neglect, vary between families and countries.

In this study, we were able to show that children who experienced parental death or divorce attained lower levels of education, but the impact of these adverse events was not equal across social environments. This underscores the importance of recognizing how children's family experiences affect their educational attainment. Moreover, our study suggests that educational system and welfare state policies can help the most disadvantaged, bereaved children, but they provide less support for other groups. It thus remains important to find ways to help children from various backgrounds and with various experiences during their youth.

## 6. Acknowledgments

This work was supported by research grant 406.17.504 from the Netherlands Organization of Scientific Research (NWO).

### References

- Albertini, M. and Dronkers, J. (2009). Effects of divorce on children's educational attainment in a Mediterranean and Catholic society. *European Societies* 11(1): 137–159. doi:10.1080/14616690802248042.
- Amato, P.R. and Anthony, C.J. (2014). Estimating the effects of parental divorce and death with fixed effects models. *Journal of Marriage and Family* 76(2): 370–386. doi:10.1111/jomf.12100.
- Augustine, J.M. (2014). Maternal education and the unequal significance of family structure for children's early achievement. *Social Forces* 93(2): 687–718. doi:10.1093/sf/sou072.
- Barg, K. (2013). The influence of students' social background and parental involvement on teachers' school track choices: Reasons and consequences. *European Sociological Review* 29(3): 565–579. doi:10.1093/esr/jcr104.
- Beck, A.N., Cooper, C.E., McLanahan, S., and Brooks-Gunn, J. (2010). Partnership transitions and maternal parenting. *Journal of Marriage and Family* 72(2): 219–233. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2010.00695.x.
- Bernardi, F. and Boertien, D. (2017). Explaining conflicting results in research on the heterogeneous effects of parental separation on children's educational attainment according to social background. *European Journal of Population* 33(2): 243–266. doi:10.1007/s10680-017-9417-5.
- Bernardi, F. and Radl, J. (2014). The long-term consequences of parental divorce for children's educational attainment. *Demographic Research* 30(61): 1653–1680. doi:10.4054/DemRes.2014.30.61.
- Biblarz, T.J. and Gottainer, G. (2000). Family structure and children's success: A comparison of widowed and divorced single-mother families. *Journal of Marriage and Family* 62(2): 533–548. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2000.00533.x.
- Blake, J. (1981). Family size and the quality of children. *Demography* 18(4): 421–442. doi:10.2307/2060941.
- Bourdieu, P. (1986). The forms of capital . In: Richardson, J.G. (ed.). *Handbook of theory and research for the sociology of education*. New York: Greenwood Press: 241–258.

- Bradley, R.H. and Corwyn, R.F. (2002). Socioeconomic status and child development. Annual Review of Psychology 53(1): 371–399. doi:10.1146/annurev.psych.53.100 901.135233.
- Brady, D. (2005). The welfare state and relative poverty in rich western democracies, 1967–1997. *Social Forces* 83(4): 1329–1364. doi:10.1353/sof.2005.0056.
- Braga, M., Checchi, D., and Meschi, E. (2013). Educational policies in a long-run perspective. *Economic Policy* 28(73): 45–100. doi:10.1111/1468-0327.12002.
- Breen, R. and Jonsson, J.O. (2005). Inequality of opportunity in comparative perspective: Recent research on educational attainment and social mobility. *Annual Review of Sociology* 31(1): 223–243. doi:10.1146/annurev.soc.31.041304.122232.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1979). *The ecology of human development: Experiments by nature and design*. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press.
- Brunello, G. and Checchi, D. (2007). Does school tracking affect equality of opportunity? New international evidence. *Economic Policy* 22(52): 782–861. doi:10.1111/j.146 8-0327.2007.00189.x.
- Burger, K. (2016). Intergenerational transmission of education in Europe: Do more comprehensive education systems reduce social gradients in student achievement? *Research in Social Stratification and Mobility* 44: 54–67. doi:10.1016/j.rssm. 2016.02.002.
- Bussemakers, C. and Kraaykamp, G. (2020). Youth adversity, parental resources and educational attainment: Contrasting a resilience and a reproduction perspective. *Research in Social Stratification and Mobility* 67(February): 100505. doi:10.1016/j.rssm.2020.100505.
- Carolan, B.V. and Wasserman, S.J. (2015). Does parenting style matter? Concerted cultivation, educational expectations, and the transmission of educational advantage. *Sociological Perspectives* 58(2): 168–186. doi:10.1177/07311214 14562967.
- Cavanagh, S.E. and Huston, A.C. (2006). Family instability and children's early problem behavior. *Social Forces* 85(1): 551–581. doi:10.1353/sof.2006.0120.
- Chykina, V. (2019). Educational expectations of immigrant students: Does tracking matter? Sociological Perspectives 62(3): 366–382. doi:10.1177/07311214198 28397.
- Coleman, J.S. (1988). Social capital in the creation of human capital. *American Journal* of Sociology 94: 95–120. doi:10.1086/228943.

- Conger, R.D., Conger, K.J., Martin, M.J., and Abstracts, S. (2010). Socioeconomic status, family processes, and individual development. *Journal of Marriage and Family* 72(3): 685–704. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2010.00725.x.
- Cooper, M. and Pugh, A.J. (2020). Families across the income spectrum: A decade in review. *Journal of Marriage and Family* 82(1): 272–299. doi:10.1111/ jomf.12623.
- DiPrete, T.A. and Eirich, G.M. (2006). Cumulative advantage as a mechanism for inequality: A review of theoretical and empirical developments. *Annual Review of Sociology* 32(1): 271–297. doi:10.1146/annurev.soc.32.061604.123127.
- van Doorn, M., Pop, I., and Wolbers, M.H.J. (2011). Intergenerational transmission of education across European countries and cohorts. *European Societies* 13(1): 93– 117. doi:10.1080/14616696.2010.540351.
- Eriksson, I., Cater, Å., Andershed, A.-K., and Andershed, H. (2010). What we know and need to know about factors that protect youth from problems: A review of previous reviews. *Procedia – Social and Behavioral Sciences* 5: 477–482. doi:10.1016/ j.sbspro.2010.07.127.
- Erola, J., Jalonen, S., and Lehti, H. (2016). Parental education, class and income over early life course and children's achievement. *Research in Social Stratification and Mobility* 44: 33–43. doi:10.1016/j.rssm.2016.01.003.
- Felitti, V.J., Anda, R.F., Nordenberg, D., Williamson, D.F., Spitz, A.M., Edwards, V., Koss, M.P., and Marks, J.S. (1998). Relationship of childhood abuse and household dysfunction to many of the leading causes of death in adults: The Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE) study. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine* 14(4): 245–258. doi:10.1016/S0749-3797(98)00017-8.
- GGS (2016). Generations and Gender Survey Wave 1 V.4.3 [electronic resource]. The Hague: Generations and Gender Programme. https://www.ggp-i.org/.
- Goldstein, H. and Healy, M.J.R. (1995). The graphical presentation of a collection of means. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series A (Statistics in Society)* 158(1): 175. doi:10.2307/2983411.
- De Graaf, N.D., De Graaf, P.M., and Kraaykamp, G. (2000). Parental cultural capital and educational attainment in the Netherlands: A refinement of the cultural capital perspective. *Sociology of Education* 73(2): 92–111. doi:10.2307/2673239.

- Grätz, M. (2015). When growing up without a parent does not hurt: Parental separation and the compensatory effect of social origin. *European Sociological Review* 31(5): 546–557. doi:10.1093/esr/jcv057.
- Hampden-Thompson, G. (2013). Family policy, family structure, and children's educational achievement. *Social Science Research* 42(3): 804–817. doi:10.1016/ j.ssresearch.2013.01.005.
- Havermans, N., Botterman, S., and Matthijs, K. (2014). Family resources as mediators in the relation between divorce and children's school engagement. *Social Science Journal* 51(4): 564–579. doi:10.1016/j.soscij.2014.04.001.
- Havermans, N., Swicegood, G., and Matthijs, K. (2020). Floor effects or compensation of social origin? The relation between divorce and children's school engagement according to parents' educational level. In: Mortelmans, D. (ed.). Divorce in Europe: New insights in trends, causes and consequences of relation break-ups. Cham: Springer: 355–370. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-25838-2\_17.
- Kloosterman, R., Notten, N., Tolsma, J., and Kraaykamp, G. (2011). The effects of parental reading socialization and early school involvement on children's academic performance: A panel study of primary school pupils in the Netherlands. *European Sociological Review* 27(3): 291–306. doi:10.1093/esr/jcq007.
- Kreidl, M., Štípková, M., and Hubatková, B. (2017). Parental separation and children's education in a comparative perspective: Does the burden disappear when separation is more common? *Demographic Research* 36(3): 73–110. doi:10.4054/ DemRes.2017.36.3.
- Lareau, A. (2015). Cultural knowledge and social inequality. *American Sociological Review* 80(1): 1–27. doi:10.1177/0003122414565814.
- Martin, M.A. (2012). Family structure and the intergenerational transmission of educational advantage. *Social Science Research* 41(1): 33–47. doi:10.1016/j. ssresearch.2011.07.005.
- McLanahan, S., Tach, L., and Schneider, D. (2013). The causal effects of father absence. *Annual Review of Sociology* 39(1): 399–427. doi:10.1146/annurev-soc-071312-145704.
- Ortiz-Ospina, E. and Roser, M. (2020). Marriages and divorces [electronic resource]. Oxford: Our World in Data. https://ourworldindata.org/marriages-and-divorces.
- Pfeffer, F.T. (2008). Persistent inequality in educational attainment and its institutional context. *European Sociological Review* 24(5): 543–565. doi:10.1093/esr/jcn026.

- Pfeffer, F.T. (2015). Equality and quality in education: A comparative study of 19 countries. *Social Science Research* 51: 350–368. doi:10.1016/j.ssresearch.2014. 09.004.
- Pong, S., Dronkers, J., and Hampden-Thompson, G. (2003). Family policies and children's school achievement in single- versus two-parent families. *Journal of Marriage and Family* 65(3): 681–699. doi:10.1111/j.1741-3737.2003.00681.x.
- Powell, B., Hamilton, L., Manago, B., and Cheng, S. (2016). Implications of changing family forms for children. *Annual Review of Sociology* 42(1): 301–322. doi:10.1146/annurev-soc-081715-074444.
- Prix, I. and Erola, J. (2017). Does death really make us equal? Educational attainment and resource compensation after paternal death in Finland. *Social Science Research* 64: 171–183. doi:10.1016/j.ssresearch.2016.10.012.
- Radl, J., Salazar, L., and Cebolla-Boado, H. (2017). Does living in a fatherless household compromise educational success? A comparative study of cognitive and noncognitive skills. *European Journal of Population* 33(2): 217–242. doi:10.1007/ s10680-017-9414-8.
- Sapharas, N.K., Estell, D.B., Doran, K.A., and Waldron, M. (2016). Effects of parental divorce or a father's death on high school completion. *Psychology in the Schools* 53(8): 861–874. doi:10.1002/pits.21947.
- Scholaro (2019). Countries [electronic resource]. Chicago: Scholaro Inc. https://www.scholaro.com/pro/countries.
- Social Security Administration (n.d.). Social Security Programs Throughout the World (1958–1994). Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Health, Education and Welfare. https://catalog.hathitrust.org/Record/003924614.
- Steele, F., Sigle-Rushton, W., and Kravdal, Ø. (2009). Consequences of family disruption on children's educational outcomes in norway. *Demography* 46(3): 553–574. doi:10.1353/dem.0.0063.
- Steelman, L.C. and Powell, B. (1989). Acquiring capital for college: The constraints of family configuration. *American Sociological Review* 54(5): 844. doi:10.2307/ 2117758.
- Tieben, N., Hofäcker, D., and Biedinger, N. (2013). Social mobility and inequality in the life course: Exploring the relevance of context. *Research in Social Stratification and Mobility* 32: 1–6. doi:10.1016/j.rssm.2013.03.002.

- Triventi, M., Skopek, J., Kulic, N., Buchholz, S., and Blossfeld, H.-P. (2020). Advantage 'finds its way': How privileged families exploit opportunities in different systems of secondary education. *Sociology* 54(2): 237–257. doi:10.1177/0038038519 874984.
- United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (2005). Generations and Gender Programme: Survey Instruments. New York and Geneva.
- Van de Werfhorst, H.G. and Mijs, J.J.B. (2010). Achievement inequality and the institutional structure of educational systems: A comparative perspective. *Annual Review of Sociology* 36(1): 407–428. doi:10.1146/annurev.soc.012809.102538.
- Westphal, S.K., Poortman, A.R., and Van der Lippe, T. (2015). What about the grandparents? Children's postdivorce residence arrangements and contact with grandparents. *Journal of Marriage and Family* 77(2): 424–440. doi:10.1111/jomf. 12173.
- Wittgenstein Centre (2018). Human capital data explorer [electronic resource]. Vienna: Wittgenstein Centre. http://dataexplorer.wittgensteincentre.org/wcde-v2/.

## Appendix

# Table A-1: Educational levels and corresponding years of education across countries

	Years of	Years of	Years of	Years of	Years of	Years of	Years of
ISCED	education	education	education	education	education	education	education
	Austria	Belgium	Bulgaria	Czech Republic	Estonia	Georgia	Germany
0		5.00	3.00		6.40	5.00	
-	7.15	* 00.9	4.00 *		7.40	e.00 *	4.00 *
2	8.92	10.36	8.57	8.95	10.32	e.00 *	9.50 *
e	12.75	12.55	12.37	12.3	12.74	12.00 *	12.67
4	13.85	14.23		15.88	14.02	14.72	15.60
5	18.17	16.28	17.62	17.54	17.28	17.36	17.88
9	19.48	19.35	19.30	18.07	19.57	19.41	19.01
	Hungary	Italy	Lithuania	Netherlands	Norway	Poland	Romania
0	3.00	4.40	4.00	5.00	6.00	7.62	3.90
-	4.00 *	5.42	5.00 *	6.00 *	* 00.7	8.68	4.92
2	12.00 *	8.67	11.00 *	10.00 *	10.00 *	9.92	8.97
e	12.00 *	12.95	13.00 *	13.00 *	13.00 *	13.07	12.12
4	12.00 *		15.03		14.00 *	16.24	16.31
5	16.00 *	18.87	17.54	15.00 *	16.00 *	18.48	17.69
9			18.00	16.00 *	18.00 *	19.36	19.45
	Russia	Sweden	ISCED	France			
0	3.00		0	5.50			
-	4.00 *	8.60	1-2	6.50 *			
2	8 <sup>.00</sup>	10.73	e	12.56			
e	11.00 *	13.94	5	16.85			
4	13.27	16.74					
5	16.30	18.56					
9	18.44	19.84					
*Number of y	ears of education	n based on governr	*Number of years of education based on government information on the educational system.	educational system.			
Sources: Sch	Sources: Scholaro (2019); GGS (2016)	3S (2016).					

Birth cohort	Measurement period country context (child benefits, age of educational selection, and divorce rate)
1945–1954	1960–1964
1955–1964	1970–1974
1965–1974	1980–1984
1975–1984	1990–1994

 Table A-2:
 Time period of context characteristics for each birth cohort

	Country	Birth cohort	Country	Birth cohort	Country	Birth cohort
Educational selectivity	Early: selection a	ge 10 or 11	Middle: selecti	ion age 12 to 14	Late: selection a	ge 15 or 16
	Austria	all cohorts	Belgium	all cohorts	Czech Republic	1955–1964
	Czech Republic	1945–1954	Bulgaria	all cohorts		1965–1974
		1975–1984	Hungary	1945–1954	Estonia	all cohorts
	France	1945–1954		1955-1964	France	1965–1974
		1955–1964		1965-1974		1975–1984
	Germany	all cohorts	Italy	all cohorts	Georgia	all cohorts
	Hungary	1975–1984	Lithuania	all cohorts	Norway	1955–1964
			Netherlands	all cohorts		1965–1974
			Norway	1945-1954		1975–1984
			Poland	all cohorts	Russia	all cohorts
			Romania	all cohorts	Sweden	all cohorts
Single-parent benefits	No benefits				Benefits	
	Austria	all cohorts			Bulgaria	1955–1964
	Belgium	all cohorts				1965–1974
	Bulgaria	1945–1954				1975–1984
	Czech Republic	all cohorts			Estonia	all cohorts
	France	1945–1954			France	1975–1984
		1955–1964			Georgia	all cohorts
		1965–1974			Hungary	1975–1984
	Germany	all cohorts			Lithuania	all cohorts
	Hungary	1945–1954			Norway	all cohorts
	0,	1955–1964			Russia	all cohorts
		1965-1974				
	Italy	all cohorts				
	Netherlands	all cohorts				
	Poland	all cohorts				
	Romania	all cohorts				
	Sweden	all cohorts				
Divorce rate	Low: < 1.2%		Middle: 1.2-2.	1%	High: > 2.1%	
	Belgium	1945–1954	Austria	all cohorts	Belgium	1975–1984
		1955–1964	Belgium	1965-1974	Estonia	all cohorts
	Bulgaria	1945–1954	Bulgaria	1955-1964	Hungary	1955–1964
		1975–1984		1965-1974		1965–1974
	France	1945–1954	France	1965–1974		1975–1984
		1955–1964		1975–1984	Lithuania	1955–1964
	Georgia	1955–1964	Georgia	1965-1974		1965–1974
	Italy	all cohorts	Hungary	1945–1954	Netherlands	1975–1984
	Lithuania	1945–1954	Netherlands	1975–1984	Norway	1975-1984
	Netherlands	1945–1954	Norway	1965-1974	Russia	1955-1964
		1955–1964	Romania	1945–1954		1965-1974
	Norway	1945–1954	. comania	1965–1974	Sweden	1965-1974
		1955-1964		1975–1984	2	1975–1984
	Romania	1955-1964	Sweden	1945–1954		

## Table A-3: Categorization of country cohorts according to context characteristics

Sources: Braga, Checchi, and Meschi (2013), Brunello and Checchi (2007), Ortiz-Ospina and Roser (2020), Scholaro (2019), Social Security Administration (1958–1994), Wittgenstein Centre (2018).